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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY
LABOQRERS LOCAL 1298 PENSTION : HONORABLE JOSEFPH E. IRENAS
FUND, on behall of itself and all others
similarly situated, : CIVIL ACTION NQ. 00-152 (JEI)
: (Consolidated Lcad Case)
PlaintifT,
v,
CAMPBELL SOUP COMPANY, : CONSOLIDATED AMENDED
DALE F. MORRISON, and : CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT

BASIL L. ANDERSON,
JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

Defendants.

Denise L. Nappier, Treasurer of the Stale of Connecticut, as Trustee for the Connecticut
Retirement Plans and Trust Funds (“Connecticut™), Donald DeValle (“DeValle”), and Daryle
Green (“Green™), co-lead plainti{(s appointed by the Court (“Plaintiffs™), on behalf of themselves

and all others sinularly situated, make the following allegations aganst defendants Campbell
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Soup Company (“Camphell” or the “Company™), Dale F. Morrison (“Mormison”) and Basil L.
Anderson (“Anderson™) based upon Plaintiffs' counscls' investigation (except as 10 the
allegations specifically pertaining to the named plaintiff and its counsel, which are based on
personal knowledge) which included, inter alia, a review of relevant filings made with the
Seccurities and Exchange Commission (“SEC™), press releases, news and analyst reports, and
interviews with numerous lormer employecs of Campell Soup Company (including formet
officcrs and employees involved in sales and shipping) and other persons knowledgeable about
the business practices of Campbell, who have personal knowledge of the relevant facls alleged
herein,

NATURE OF THE ACTION

1. This is a securitics class action lawsuit which arises out of dissemination of
materially false and mislcading information and omissions of material information to the
investing public by defendants concerning the business, operations and financial performance of
Campbell, the world’s largest soup maker and marketer of soup, during the period September g,
1997 through January 8, 1999, inclusive (the “Class Period™).

2. During the Class Period, defendants engaged in a fraudulent scheme to falsely
poriray Campbell as achicving “record sales,” a significant growth rate in both sales and
carnings, and carnings in hne with eamings cstimates publicly disseminated by securities
analysts, which were based on representations to secunties analysts made by defendants.

3. Defendants' fraudulent scheme mcluded a praciice known as “loading.” Loading is
a practice whereby during the last month of cach fiscal quarter Campbecll sales people would
offer stcep discounts (15% to 20% during the Class Period) in order to induce sales to customers

that alrcady had enough Campbell products in inventory and did not require additional inventory.




Defendants engaged in this practice in order to increase earnings and to meet growth and
earninigs estimates disseminated by secunties analysts.

4, This practice of loading became pervasive during the last quarter of fiscal 1997
(ending August 3, 1997) and throughout the Class Period because the Company was cxpenencing
difficulty in achieving the sales targets set by Campbell's managemenl through normal and
acceptable sales practices. This was due to a large “buy-in” by Campbell's customers who made
substantial purchases of Campbell products during the third quarter of fiscal 1997 (ending April
27, 1997) due to a previously announced price increase which would take place shortly
thereafter.

5. By engaging in pervasive loading during the Class Period, the Company was
mortgaging future sales. Although the practice of loading is not illegal per se, the failure to
disclose the pervasive nature of the practice and the cffect it wounld have on future sales and
eamings rendered delendants’ statements about growth in sales and earnings during the Class
Period materially false and mislcading.

6. In addition to the steep discounts offered by Campbell, the Company also induced
customers to take additional product by assuring the customer that the product could be returned
if it could not be sold by the customer within a reasonable period of time. Although the customer
paid for the produet, the revenue recognized on these transactions was improper and in
contravention of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“GAAP™) because due to the
unprecedented level of loading, Campbell was unable to reasonably estimate the amount of
returns and, in conmection with the “sham” shipments described below, the risk of loss did not

pass to the buycr at the time of sale. Campbell improperly recognized material amounts of
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revenue that were made on this “guaranteed sales” basis. Alternatively, even if the revenue was
properly recorded it was overstated to the extent that no reserve for returns was taken by
Campbell.

7. By the first quarter of fiscal 1998 Campbcll's cusiomers' warchouses were so full
of Campbell products they had nowhere to storc subsequent purchases of Campbell produets. In
order (o continue the loading practices, Campbell would sell the customer the product, but
would not ship the product. Tnstead, Campbell would place the product on the trucks and then
these trucks would park on other areas of Campbell's facilities or the product would be shipped to
Campbell warchouses until the customer nceded the product. Campbell's recognition of revenue
on these “sham” shipments violated GAAP as set forth in paragraph 9 below and as detailed
herein.

8. By the latter part of calendar year 1998 the practice of loading had become so
pervasive that Campbell's customers had cnough inventory on hand and stored at Campbell's
facilities that they did not need to purchase substantial quantities of Campbell products as they
had in the past and Campbell’s future sales suffered. In fact, as later admitted by defendant
Morrison, Campbell's sales would continue to suffer as a result of this practice throughoul
calendar year 1999. Although defendants recognized that the loading practices would harm
future salcs, defendants believed that their fraudulent scheme would never be uncovered.
Defendanis thought that growth could be provided by tapping into the international market and
the introduction of new products. The international market and introduction of new product
market never materialized to the exlent necessary to offset the detrimental effect these loading

practices had on the U.S. market.
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9. Defendants also violaled GAAP during the Class Period by reporting as revenue
and income “sales” which were a “sham” and not properly recognizable as revenue becausc (1)
products were deemed “shipped” and “‘sold” despite the fact that Campbell's merely arranged for
trucks to pick up the products and then parked those trucks on other areas of Campbell's
(acilities, and (ii) products were deemed “shipped” and “sold™ despitc the fact that Campbell's
merely arranged for trucks to pick up its products and take those products to warehouses cither
owned by Campbell or for which Campbell paid. 1n addition, defendants overstated Campbell's
reported revenue by treating discounts given to customers as an expense similar to adverlising
(SG&A), rather than reducing the amount of revenuc recognized by the amount of the discounts,
thereby maintaining the appearance of higher sales and gross margins which defendants touted
and upon which analysts focused.

10.  On or about January 11, 1999, before the opening of the market and the first
irading day after the close of the Class Period, Campbell stunned the investing public by
announeing that fiscal-year earnings would fall 18 to 23 cents a sharc (or betwecn $77 - $100
million) below analysts’ estimates, as a result of which Campbell’s stock declined dramatically
from a high of $53.94 per share on January 8, 1999 to close at $45.375 per share on January 11,
1999, a drop ol approximately 16%. Over 9.7 million shares traded on January 11, and 12, 1999.
However, Campbell misrepresented the reasons for the earnings shorifall. Instead of disclosing
that the failure to meet earnings estimales were as a result of its loading practices, improper
revenue recognition, sham shipments and sham recordings of sales and profits, Campbel) blamed
the earnings shortfall on “inefficiencies in the supply chain™ and “unseasonably warm weather.”

The next day, Campbell announced that it was ending its loading practices. In a confercnce call




with securities analysts on January 12, 1999, defendant Morrison conceded that “Campbell
planned to end its long-lime practice of offering rcbates and steep discounts at quarters end as a
way to entice the stores to slock up on soup so Campbell can meet its sales target.”

11.  As the truc effect on the Company of defendants' misconduct (including the
absorption by customers throughout 1999 of the product previously deemed “sold”™ and
improperly recognized as revenue and income by defendant during the Class Penod) further
matcrialized in lower carnings reported in later quarters throughout calendar year 1999,
Camphell’s stock price dropped further, to as low as $37.44 on December 21, 1999,

12.  Tn fact, defendants admitted that the loading practices had caused quarterly results
to suffer. For cxample, on February 16, 1999, defendants announced poor earnings results for
the quarter ending February 18, 1999, conceding that the cause was “changes to its supply chain
that resulted in fewer shipments.” On May 18, 1999, the Company again reported poor earnings
results for the third quarter ending May 2, 1999, “impacted by (he [1999] decision to eliminate
quarter-cnd promotions for retail customers.” Again on September 2, 1999 and November 16,
1999, Campbell announced poor earnings results for the fourth quarter of fiscal 1999 and first
quarter of fiscal 2000, respectively, as a resuit of discontinuation of the decp discounis and
rebatcs offered retailers at the end of (he quarter. However, to date defendants have never
disclosed Camphell’s improper revenuc recognition, sham shipments and sham recordings of

sales and profits.




JURISDICTION AND VENUE

13.  The claims asserted herein arise under Sections 10(b) and 20(2) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 (the "Exchange Act"), 15 U.S.C. § 78j and 78t, and Rule 10b-5, 17 C.FR.
§ 240.10b-5 promulgated thereunder by the Sceurities Exchange Commission (“SEC”).

14.  Jursdiction is conferred upon this Court by Section 27 of the Exchange Act, 15
U.S.C. § 78aa, and by 28 U.S.C. §§1331 and 1337,

15.  Venue is proper in this District pursuant to Section 27 of the Exchange Act and 28
1.8.C. Section 1391(b). Many of the acts and transactions constituting the violations of law
described in this complaint occurred in substantial part within this District, including the
preparation, issuance and dissemination of materially false and mislcading information to the
investing public. In addition, Campbell, a New Jersey corporation, maintains its principal officcs
in this district at Campbell Place, Camden, New Jersey 08103-1799,

16. In connection with the acts alleged hercin, defendants, directly or indirectly, used
the means and ingtrumecntalities of interstatc commerce, including the United States mails,
telephonic systems and the facilitics of the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”).

THE PARTIES

17.  PlaintifTs Denise L. Nappier, Trcasurer of the Statc of Connecticut, as Trustee for
the Connecticut Retiremen! Plans and Trust Funds, Donald DeValle and Daryle Green were
appointed co-lead plaintiffs by the Court, and bring this action on behalf of themselves and all
other investors who purchased Campbell common stock during the Class Period. Plaintiffs
purchased the common stock of Campbell at artificially inflated priccs during the Class Period,

as detailed in their Certifications previously filed with the Court.




18.  Campbell is the world’s largest maker and marketer of soup with reported salcs in
fiscal 1998 (fiscal year ended August 2, 1998) of approximately $6.7 billion. Campbell currently
has over 400 million shares of common stock outstanding. Campbell’s stock trades on the
NYSE, an opcn, cfficient, impersonal and well developed market for the trading of securities of
public companies wherein the market price reflects publicly disseminated information.
Campbell’s main headquarters is located within the jurisdiction of this Court.

19.  Defendant Dale F. Morrison (“Morrison™) was, at all relevant times, President and
Chiel Exceutive Officer of Campbell and a member of the Board of Directors, Motrison was a
signatory to Campbell’s armual report on Form 10-K for both fiscal 1997 ending August 3, 1997
(filed with the SEC on or about October 23, 1997) and fiscal 1998 ending August 2, 1998 (filed
with the SEC on or ahout October 9, 1998). Tn fiscal year 1997, Morrison received a salary of
$362,500, other income of $18,117, and incentive compensation of $252,323 m cash, $4,890,488
in restricted stock awards and options to purchase 200,000 shares of stock for meeting certain
performance standards including earnings per share targets. In fiscal year 1998, Morrison
received a salary of $800,000, other income of $56,805, and incentive compensation of
$1,093,500 in cash and options to purchase 200,000 shares of stock based on meeting certain
performance standards including earnings per share targets.

20. Defendant Basil L. Anderson (“Anderson”) was, at all relevant times, Executive
Viee President and Chief Financial Officer of Campbell. Anderson was a signatory to
Campbell’s 1997 Form 10-K and 1998 Form 10-K as well as to the quarterly reports on Form 10-
Q filed with the SEC throughout the Class Period, as further described herein. For fiscal year

1997, Andergon received as compensation a salary of $360,833, other income of $12,088, and



incentive compensation of $301,680 in cash, restricted slock awards worth $1,502, 331, and
options (o purchasc 108,802 shares of stock based on meeting cerlain performance standards
including earnings per sharc targets. For fiscal year 1998, Anderson received as compensation a
salary ol $420,000, other income of $24,556, and incentive compensation of $398,520 in cash,
and options (o purchase 48,000 shares of stock based on meeting cerlain performance standards
including carnings per share targets.

21.  Defendants Momison and Anderson (collcctively, the "Individual Defendants”)
werc at all relevant times during the Class Period controlling petsons of Campbell within the
meaning of Scction 20(a) of the Exchange Act. Because of the Individual Defendants’ positions
with the Company, they had access o undisclosed adverse information about its busmess,
operations, sales programs, balance sheet, accounting and reserve policics, operational trends,
financial condition, and present and future business prospects through access to internal
corporate documents (including the Company's operating plans, budgets, forecasts, and reporis of
actual operations compared thereto), conversations and connections with other corporate officers
and employces, attendance at management meetings and meetings of the board and committees
thereof, and through reports and other information provided to them in connection therewith.

22. It is appropriate to treat the Individual Defendants as a group for pleading purposcs
and 1o presume that the false, misleading and incomplete information conveyed in the Company's
public filings, press releases and other publications as alleged herein are the collective actions of
the narrowly defined group of defendants identified above. Each of the Individual Defendants,
by virtue of his high-level position with the Company, directly participated in the management ol

the Company, was dircetly involved in the day-to-day operations of the Company at the highest




level and was privy to confidential proprietary information concerning the Company and its
business, opcrations, prospects, growth, finances, and financial condition as alleged herein. Said
defendants were involved in drafling, producing, reviewing, approving and/or disseminating the
materially false and misleading statements and information alleged herein, including SEC filings,
press teleases, and other publications, were aware of or recklessly disrcgarded that matcrially
(alsc or misleading statements were being issucd regarding the Company, and approved or
ralified these statements in violation of the federal sccurities laws.

23, Asofficcrs, directors, and controlling persons of a publicly held company whose
common stock was, and is, registered with the SEC, traded on thc NYSE, and governed by the
provisions of the federal securities laws, the Individual Defendants each had a duty to
disseminate accurate and truthful information promptly with respect to the Company's financial
condition and performance, growth, operations, financial statements, busincss, carmings,
management, and present and future business prospects, and to correct any previously-issued
statements that had become materially misleading or untrue, so that the market pricc of the
Company's publicly-traded securities would be based upon truthful and accurate information.
The Individual Defendants' misrcpresentations and omissions during the Class Period violated
these specific requirements and obligations.

24,  The Individual Defendants participated in the drafting, preparation, and/or approval
of the various public and sharcholder and investor reports and other communications complaincd
of herein and were awarc of, or recklessly disregarded, the misstatements contained therein and
the omissions therefrom, and were aware of their materially false and misleading nature.

Because of their positions with Campbell, each of the Individual Defendants had access to
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adverse undisclosed information about Campbell's business prospects, financial condition and
performance as particularized herein and knew (or recklessly disregarded) that these adverse facts
rendered {he positive representations made by or about Campbell and 1is business, issued or
adopted by the Company, matcrially false and misieading.

25.  The Individual Defendants, because of their positions of control and authority as
officers and controlling persons of the Company, were able to and did control the content of the
various SEC filings, press releases and other public statements pertaining to the Company during
the Class Period. Each of the Individual Defendants was provided with copics of the documents
alleged herein to be misleading prior to or shortly after their issuance and/or had the ability
and/or opportunity to prevent their issuance or cause them (o be corrected. Accordingly, each of
{he Tndividual Defendants is responsible for the accuracy of the public reports, releascs, and
statements detailed herein and is therefore primarily liablc for the representations conlaincd
therein.

26.  The Individual Defendants caused, allowed and/or participated in the wrongdoing
complained of herein in order to continue and prolong a distorted and misleading appearance of
Campbell’s continued profitability and financial condition and prospects.

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS

27.  This action is brought by plaintiffs as a class action pursuant to Rule 23 of the
Federal Rules of Civil Procedure on behalf of themselves and a class (the “Class™) consisting of
all persons who purchased Campbell common stock between September 8, 1997 and January &,
1999, inclusive, (the “Class Period”) and suffered damages thereby. Excluded from the Class are

defendants, the officers and directors of the Company at all relevant times, members of their
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immediate families, any entity in which any defendant bas a controlling interest, and the legal
affiliates, represeniatives, heirs, controlling petsons, successors, and predecessors in interest or
assigns of any such excluded person or entity.

28.  This action is properly maintainablc as a class action because:

(a) During the Class Period, more than 400 million shares of Campbell
common stock were outstanding. Campbell is actively traded on the NYSE. The members of the
Class are dispersed throughout the United States and are so numerous that joinder of all Class
members is impracticable. Millions of shares of Campbell common stock were publicly traded
during the Class Period and, based upon Campbell's SEC filings and other public disclosures,
plainti(ls believe that there are thousands of members of the Class;

(b) Plaintiffs' claims are typical of the ¢laims of the other members of the
Class. Plaintiffs and all members of the Class purchased and/or acquired their Campbell
common stock in rcliance upon defendants' statements to the public and/or the integrity of the
open market and sustained damages as a result of defendants’ wrongful conduct complained of
herein;

(c) Plaintiffs are representative parties who will fairly and adequately protect
{he interests of the other members of the Class and have retained counscl competent and
cxperienced in class action secunties litigation;

(d) A class action is superior to other available methods for the fair and
efficient adjudication of the claims asserted herein, because joinder of all members 18
impracticable. Furthermore, because the damages suffercd by the individual Class members may

be relatively small, the cxpense and burden of individual litigation make it virtually impossible
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for the Class members to individually redress the wrongs done to them. The likelibood of
individual Class members prosecuting separate claims is remole;

(c) Plaintiffs anticipate no unusual difficulties in the management of this
action as a class action; and

(H) Common questions of law and fact predominale over any guestions
cffecting any individual members of the Class.

29.  The questions of law and fact which are common to plaintiffs and the Class
include, among others:

(a) Whether the federal securities laws were violated by defendants' acts and
omissions as alleged herein;

() Whether the documents, press releases, reports, and/or statements
digseminated to the investing public and to Campbell sharcholders during the Class Period
omitted or misrepresented material facts about the financial condition, business, and incomc of
Campbell;

(c) Whether defendants acted recklessly and/or knowingly in making the
malerial misstatements and omissions described herein;

(d) Whether, during the Class Period, the market price of Campbell's common
stock was artificially inflated due to the omissions and/or matenal misrepresentations
complained of herein;

(e) Whether defendants participaled in and pursued the common course of

conduct complained of herein;




() Whether the Individual Defendants were "control persons” within the
meaning of Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act; and

(2) Whether the members of the Class have sustained damages and, if so, what
is the extent of such damages.

FRAUD-ON-THE-MARKET DOCTRINE
30, (a) Campbell mel the requircments for listing, and is listed on the New York
Stock Exchange, a highly efficicnt market that quickly reflects all SEC filings and press releascs
issued by a listed company;

(b) As a regulated issuer, Campbell filed periodic public reports with the SEC
that contained material misvepresentations and/or omitted matcrial facts during the Class Penod,
as alleged herein, causing the price of Campbell common stock to trade at artificially inflated
prices;

(c) The trading volume of Campbcll's common siock was substantial during
the Class Period, indicaling that there was a liquid market for Campbell common stock during
the Class Period;

(d) The market price of Campbcll common stock reacted efficiently lo ncw
information in SEC filings and press releascs issued by Campbell that entered the market; and

(e) Plaintiffs and olher members of the Class acquired Campbell common
stock after the time that defendants made the mistcpresentations or omissions and before the time
{hat the truth was revealed, without knowledge of the [alsity of the misrepresentations.

31.  The foregoing facts clearly indicate the cxistence of an efficicnt market for the

trading of Campbell common stock and, consequently, the applicability of the fraud-on-the-
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market presumption of reliance. Accordingly, plaintiffs and the other members of the (lass are
entitled to a presumption of rcliance with respect to the misstatements and omissions alleged
this Complaint.

SUBSTANTIVE ALLEGATIONS

Background To Thc Action

32, Asofl 1997, Campbell was a worldwide leader in sales of soups and sauces and had
substantial revenues from the salc of other foods. Of Campbell’s (otal reported revenues of
approximately $6.6 billion in the fiscal year ended August 3, 1997, $4.1 billion was from soup
and sauces, of which $1.2 billion was from condensed soup and $600 million was from the sale
ol Campbell’s well established and best selling “big 3," Chicken Noodle, Tomato and Cream of
Mushroom condensed soups (sometimes known as the “Red and White” soups due to the color
on the label of the cans). During the years since 1990, when David Johnson (*Johnson™) was
appoinied President and CEOQ, Campbell had dramatically incrcased its sales, gross margins and
profit, as well as its stock pricc. In fiscal 1997 alone, Campbell had increased its reported
revenues to $6.61 billion from $6.32 billion a year earlicr, its reported gross margin to 43.9%
from 43.2%, and its reported carnings to $873 million before special charges (§1.85 per share
excluding special charges) from $802 million ($1.61 per sharc).

33.  Howevcr, by June 1997, when Morrison was appointed to take over as President
and CEQ from Johnson (who would remain as Chairman of the Board of Directors), many
analysts had noted that Campbell’s continued increase in revenue, margin, and earnings was in
jeopardy because the retail price of the Red and White soups had increased to nearly $1.00 per

¢an (which analysts viewed as a break point for retail customers), and further growth would have
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to come largely rom increased volume of sales rather than increases in the sales price.
Defendants themselves noted in Campbell’s 1997 Annual Report to sharcholders (filed with the
SEC on or about October 23, 1997 as part of Campbel]’s Form 10-K) that its success in 1997 had
largely resulted from increases in pricing: “the 2.7 point improvement [in gross margin] in 1997
was the largest gain in the last five years. The increases in 1997 and 1996 were duc principally
to continued productivity gains in manufacturing facilities and higher selling prices.”
Nonethcless, Campbell management had committed to 8% annual salcs growth in its core
business in its discussions with analysts.

34.  Although Campbell faced potential short-term pressures on margins and profit,
defendants (and analysts) believed Campbell had major opportunities for increased sales and
earnings because of opportunities for cxpansion in arcas outside the United States, as well as in
new products within the United States. For cxample, in the 1997 Annual Repori, Motrison noted
that although Campbell sold 80% of the wet soup sold in the United States, the opportunity
worldwide was great: “How big is the opportunity? When you consider that around the world,
we supply only 2% of the soup that people eat cvery day, big scems like too small a word.” In
addition, Campbell was acting to better capture the world market, announcing in September 1997
that it was acquiring Leibig, a major European manufacturcr of soup. In short, defendants
belicved that Campbell would be able to continue its increases in revenue and carnings long-term
if adverse resulls in fiscal 1998 — Morrison's first year at the helm — did not undermine the
strategy or investors” confidence in Morrison. In recognition of the extraordinary lengths to

which defendants were willing to — and did — go to ensure that Campbell continued to appear on
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its upward trend during his first years at the helm, Mortison ominously commented 1n the 1997
Annual Report:

Qur people have become accustomed to winning and will accepl

nothing less. That is the legacy of David Johnson’s seven years as

the leader of this great company. David showed us all that winning

requires taking risks, stretching oursclves in ways we never imagined

while always kceping the competition firmly in our sights.

35. Beginning in September 1997 and continuing throughout the Class Period,

defendants engaged in a wrongful course of conduct by issuing a series of misrepresentations to
investors and the market conccrning Campbell's salcs practices, ils revenue, eammings and growth

prospects, which artificially inflated and maintained the price of Campbell stock.

DEFENDANTS' WRONGFUL COURSE OF CONDUCT

Defendants’ Plan, Scheme and Practice of

Inflating Sales and Qrchestrating Sham Shipments

36.  During the third quarter of fiscal 1997 (through April 27, 1997), there was a large
“buy in” (increased purchases by customers) of soup in advance of a price increase which was
scheduled to take place shortly thercafter. As a result, the channels for Campbell’s major product
were overfilled, and there was a significant possibility that, in the absence of extraordinary sales
inducements and fraudulent accounting, reported sales and gross margins would decreasc going
forward.

37.  During the last quarter of fiscal 1997 (cnding August 3, 1997), and continuing with
ever-increasing intensity throughout the Class Period, Campbell engaged in activities to increase
reported sales of soups, sauces, and juices in the Uniled States through improper accounting and

ageressive sales and shipping practices knowing that such activitics would undermine
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Campbell's future profitabilily in its U.S. operations. Although the loading at the end of fiscal
1997 included offering customers substantial discounts for the purchase of products before the
end of the quarter, the loading became much more aggtessive during the Class Period, as sct forth
below. By the end of fiscal 1997, as a result of the discounts offered, the channels for the
distribution of some of Campbell’s key products in the United States had become “stuffed,” and
there was no likelihood of legitimately achieving the sales targets which management had
consistently forecast to analysts and investors,

38. Mark Leckic (“Leckie”) became Corporate Vice President - President ol the U.S.
Grocery Division by the end of fiscal 1997. Under Leckie, William Toller (“Toller”) was the
head of marketing. Campbell had organized its sales and marketing force within teams that
focused upon certain key accounts or geographical areas; cach team consisted of a “team leader”
(who reported to Toller) and “account cxccutives™ as well as persons who were responsible for
finances and other aclivilies. During the spring of 1998, Ron Gable (“Gable”) became Vice
President of Supply Chain and became responsible for arranging the shipments of goods as
described herein. Both Gable and Leckie reported directly to Defendant Morrison, Campbell’s
CEO.

39.  During the Class Period, Defendant Morrison, Campbell’s CEO, and William
()’Shea, who served under Defendant Anderson as Comptroller, would inform Toller of the
dollar amount of revenue the Company had to report for the quarter in order lo meet analyst
projeciions.

40.  Throughout the last month of the fiscal quarter, including daily telephone

confcrence calls during the last two weeks of the fiscal quartcr, Toller would instruct his
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marketing group of the amounts of produci that must be sold by the end of the fiscal quarter,
would authorize the marketing group to provide ever larger “discounts™ and would provide each
member of the marketing group with the amount of product which that person must “load”™ onto
trucks by the end of the fiscal quarter (which was largely soups, but increasingly also included
sanccs and juice to meet the target numbers). The persons on the daily conference calls generally
included at least the following persons:

- Peter Barber, team leader for wholesalers in midwest region

- Tom Crohan, team leader for Fleming

- David Dnrkin, team lcader for wholesalers on the cast coast

- Jerry Farrell, leam lcader for Safeway stores

- Terry Haverkost, another team leader

- Rory Mc¢Carthy, tcam leader for Food Lion

- Doug Pace, team leader for Winn Dixic

- Bill Parker, team lcadcr for large west coast supermarket chaing

- Dave Sperry, teum leader for American Stores

- Richard Spoon, team leader for Supcrvalue

41.  As the “buy-in" which had occurred in the third quarter of fiscal 1997 and the

discounting which had occurred during the last quartcr of fiscal 1997 had “stuffed” the channels
for Campbe!l’s product, it was necessary to offer ever larger discounts in order to induce
customers to take ever larger amounts of product. Ag a result, discounts were authorized which
were up to 15-20%, which were not deducted from the invoice price but were instead provided to
customers by check from Campbell shortly after ihe sale. In addition, although Campbell
traditionally provided small discounts (2-3%) to customers in rcturn for customer agreements to
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provide in-store advertising and promotions of Campbell’s preducts, the large end of quarter
discounts were unaccompanicd by any advertising concessions by the customers.

42, By the beginning of (he first quarter of fiscal 1998, despite the large discounts,
many of Campbell’s customers expressed that they could not buy the quantities which Campbell
was pushing them 1o buy as they did not have the space to hold all of the product. As a result,
Campbell devised two methods to “sell” the product without shipping the product to the
customer by the end of the fiscal quarter.

a. Campbell arranged for the product to be shipped to warehouses owned or
paid for by Campbell, including a warehouse near Campbell’s Paris, Texas facility. Campbcll
paid for the shipping to and from the warehouse. Campbell paid all of the costs of warehousing
the product.  40-50 outside (third-party) warchousc sites were used, tolaling scveral hundred
thousand square feet ol storage space.

b. Campbell arranged for the product to be loaded onto {rucks which would
drive the shorl distance to other arcas of the parking lots on each of Campbell’s four U.5.
facilities (Napoleon, Ohio; Paris, Tcxas; Sacramento, Califorma; and Maxton, North Carolina)
on which the product had been “loaded,” and the truck would be parked there until the product
could be shipped to a customer. This process of shipping product to “the yard” was discussed by
Toller on some of the daily conference calls. A large number of filled trucks (in some cases 100)
would be parked in lots at the end of the quarter. Each truck contained approximaltely 1,200
cases of soup (wilh 48 cans of soup to a case) or a similar volume of other product.

43.  Campbecll arranged for trucks from third party shipping companies for the end of

each quarter, because Campbcell did not have enough trucks 1o handle the massive amount of

20



merchandise shipped at the cnd of the quarter. Gable and his predecessor arranged for the trucks
which were involved in the movement of product at the end of the quarter.

44.  As a result of the efforts at the end of the quarter lo “ship” product in order to
attemnpt (o claim the “salc” as lcgitimate revenue, Campbell arranged for hundreds of trucks to
linc up at each of Campbell’s four U.S. (acilities in order to deliver the producis, including to
warehouses and (o other spots on Campbell’s property.

45.  Throughout the Class Period, many officers at Campbell discussed the process of
“loading” and “shipping” the product at the end of the quarter - and the fact that it was wrong -
with senior officers of the Company, including Defendants Morrison and Anderson. A memo
was preparcd by Gable and delivered to Morrison during the summer of 1998, in which Gable
reviewed the sales and loading practices which had been nsed by Campbell. Both Gable and
Leckie recommended that these practices be stopped. These proposals were rejected by
Morrison. At one mesting near the end of fiscal 1998, when in the presence of Defendant
Motrison, onc of the officers stated that the “loading” was destroying morale al Campbell,
Morrison said that he didn’t want to hear the “L” word used.

46.  In addition to the discounts and “holding” the product which were offered and
pushed by Campbell, Campbelt induced “‘customers” to take additional product by assuring the
customers that the product could be returned if it could not be sold by the customer within a
reasonable period of time - what was referred to as a “guaranteed sale™ policy. Although
customers were often told that they could return the product if not resold within 90 days,
Campbell believed that the shelf lifc of its products was sufficiently long that most of the product

would not be returned. Nonethelcss, the returns of product became so significant during the
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Class Period that Toller sent out a memo instructing the sales force that he would have to
personally approve any further offers which included the return of product.

47.  The process of “shipping” product beyond the true capacity of Campbeil’s
customers to handle the product reached astonishing lcvels during the Class Period. Dunng the
third fiscal 1998 quarter (ended May 3, 1998), Rory McCarthy, team leader for Food Lion,
reported that Food Lion had 52 weeks of inventory before the push by Campbell in the last
month of the quarter, but Tollcr nonetheless told McCarthy that he was required to scll more
product to Food Tion at the end of the quarter. Other customcrs, including Supervaluc also had
at least a full year’s worth of some producis. Even smaller customers such as Richfood, who had
no room for the levels of product pushed upon them, were approached to buy more product with
offers of stcep discounts and shipping arrangements, which were a departurc from the normal
manner in which business had previously been done.,

48.  Campbell’s “sales” to customers, including the “sales” which were “shipped™ to
warehouses and “the yard,” were at Campbell’s risk of loss until the product was dclivered to the
customer (including risk of loss for any damages in shipping the product to or from the
warehouses or the “yard™), and Campbell paid all costs, including all additional costs, until the
product was delivered to the customer, including shipping, storage, demurrage, and handling.

THE FALSE AND MISLEADING STATEMENTS

Misrepresentations About Campbell’s Resulls For Fiscal 1997 (Ended August 3. 1997)

49.  In a press release on Scptember 8, 1997 (the first day of the Class Period),
defendants announced that Campbell had “rccord” sales and earnings for its fiscal 1997 fourth

quarter ended August 3, 1997. Campbell reported a 5% increase in sales to $1.72 billion versus
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$1.64 billion for the comparable quarter last year. Campbell also reported earnings increascd 6%
to $192 million versus $180 million for the comparablc quarter last year. For fiscal year 1997,
Campbell reported sales of $7.96 billion, up 4% over the $7.68 billion reported last ycar. Net
earnings before special charges for fiscal year 1997 were reported as $873 million, up 9% from
last year's reported net carnings of $801 million. Earnings per share excluding special charges
were reported as $1.85, increasing 15% from $1.61 for fiscal year 1996.

50. Inthe September &, 1997 press rclcasc, defendant Momison commented that: “This
was another outstanding year for Campbell. Our ¢ore busincss - soups and sauces, biscuit and
confectionary and foodservice — grew 10 percent in sales and 15 percent in camings. Company
gross margins grew by 2.7 points to 45.9 percent, our strongest gain in the last five years.”

51.  On or aboul Qctober 23, 1997, defendants filed Campbell's 1997 Form 10-K with
the SEC, which reiterated the results sel forth in the Scptember 8, 1997 press relcasc with respect
to revenue and earnings.

52.  Campbell's Form 10-K for fiscal year 1997 also included a specific reprcsentation
that shipment of Campbell's products was made “promplly” by Campbell following receipt and
acceptance of orders:

CUSTOMERS

In the United States, sales solicitation activibies are conducted by the
company’s own sales force and through broker and distributor
arrangements, The company’s products are generally resold Lo
consumets in rctail stores, restaurants and other food scrvice
cstablishments. No material part of the business is dependent upon a

single cuslomer. Shipments arc made promptly by the company after

rcecipt and acceptance of orders, (emphasis added)
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Misrcpresentations About Estimaled Sales Growth

53.  On September 9, 1997, at a meeting with analysts, including representatives of
Dcutsche Morgan Grenlell, senior management of Campbell, including Morrison and Anderson,
represented and reiterated their commitment and belief that Campbell would have 8% growth in
the U.S. market for fiscal 1998, including 3% growth in sales volume in the United Statcs. This
was reported to the market by Deutsche Morgan Grenfell through an analyst report 135ued on

September 10, 1997,

Misrepreschitations About Results For Campbell’s Fiscal

54,  In apress release on November 18, 1997, defendants announced that Campbell had
“record” sales and earnings for its first fiscal quarter ended November 2, 1997 (1998 First
Quarter™). The Company reported $2.12 billion in sales and $267 million in earnings (or $.58
per share) for the 1998 First Quarter as compared with $2.052 billion in sales and $88 million in
earnings (or $.57 per share) the same quarter in the prior year.

55. Inthe November 18, 1997 press release, defendants touted the Company’s
“excellent” earnings and the sales strength of its “corce businesses™ as follows:

“Qur excellent earmings per share performance shows that fiscal 1998
is off to a strong start,” said Dale F. Morrison, Campbell President and
CEQ. “Salcs in our core businesses of soup and sauces, biscuits and
confectionery, and food service grew 7 perceni and earnings increascd
12 percent in the quarler. We are continuing to expand our

gross margins across the company through productivity gams and
improved product mix. We are investing those savings in brand
growlh imhatives, including a 20 percent incrcasc in advertising. . . . .
U.S. soup unit volume rose 2 percent . . .{emphasis added)

56.  The earnings of $0.58 pcr sharc reported by Campbell for the fiscal 1998 first

quarter on November 18, 1997 were identical to the estimate 1ssued by Merrill Lynch on October
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14, 1997, and matched the consensus estimate of analysts. Following the earnings
announcement, Campbell’s common stock price climbed from $52.4375 per sharc on November
18, 1997 to $54.875 per sharc on November 20, 1997,

57.  Onor aboul December 17, 1997, defendants filed Campbell’s quarterly report on
Form 10-Q with the SEC, which reiterated the results first set forth in the November 18, 1997
press release with respect to revenue, earnings, margins and U.S, product volume increases.

Misrepresentations About Results For Campbell’s Fiscal Quartcr Ended February 1, 1998

58. Inapress release on February 17, 1998, defendants announced that Campbell had
“record” quartcrly sales and earnings for its second quarter ended February 1, 1998 (1998
Second Quarter”™). Sales and earnings in the 1998 Second Quartcr were $2.342 billion and $300
million (or $.68 per share excluding a $.55 per share restructuring charge), respectively, as
compared with sales of $2.317 billion and earnings of $276 million (or $.58 per share) in the
samc quarter in the prior year.

59.  In the February 17, 1998 release, defendants again touted Campbell’s
performance in increasing volume of sales:

“Our continued excellent earnings per share performance demonstrates
our strategic growth plan is on track,” said Dale F. Momison, Campbell
President and CEQ. “Sales in our corc businesses grew

8 percent in the quarter, excluding the impact of currency. Thesc results
were led by soup and sauces and biscuits and confectionary. Continued
strong productivity gains led to a 2.6 percentage point gain in our gross
margin. We are investing those savings in growth initiatives, including
advertising . . ."

The press release also announced that soup and sauces sales for the quarter increased 7 percent to

$1.39 billion from $1.30 billion the prior year, and that U.S. soup sales were up 2%.
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60.  The carnings of $0.68 per share precisely matched the carnings estimate issucd
previously by Merrill Lyneh. As reported in the Financial Post on February 19, 1998, the
reported earnings of $0.68 per share also precisely matched the average eamings estimatc of
analysts for the quarter. Following the eamings announcement, Campbell’s common stock price
closed at $54.5625 per share on Fcbruary 17, 1998 and $55.0625 per share on February 18, 1998.

61.  On or about February 25, 1998, defendants filed Campbell’s quarterly report on
Form 10-Q with the SEC, which reiterated the results first set forth in the February 19, 1998
press release with respect to revenue, eamnings, margins and U.S. product volume increascs.
Misrcpresentations About Results For Campbell’s Fiscal Quarter Ended May 3, 1998

62.  In apress release on May 19, 1998, defendants announced that Campbell reported
sales of $1.572 billion for the fiscal quarter ending May 3, 1998, compared with sales of $1.541
billion for the same quarter in the prior ycar, and net earnings before special charges of 5157
million (or $0.34 per share) compared with net eamings (before special charges) of $142 million
{or $0.30) per share in the same quarter in the prior year. The press release also stated that sales
in soup and sauces for the quarter increased 4 pereent to $1.01 billion and operating earnings,
excluding the restructuring charge, increased § percent to $243 million.

63. Defendant Morrison was quoted extensively in the May 19, 1998 press release as
commenting on these results as follows:

Campbell is continuing to deliver on ils commitment to annual
earnings per share growth in the top quartile of the food industry.
Meanwhile, the transformation of the company to a premier
consumer products company focused on our strategic businesses of
soup and sauces, biscuits and confectionery, and food scrvice is

continuing,. . . . This quarter was marked by several major strategic
growlh plan accomplishments. . . .. U.S. soup is a key area of focus.



We are making significant investments behind product innovation
and we will be introducing several new soups into the marketplace
in the coming months. We are also developing more effcctive
go-to-market strategies consistent with our cmphasis on volume
driven growth. We expect these new products and slrategies will
begin to pay off carly in the next fiscal year.

64.  As with the earlicr two quarters in fiscal 1998, Campbell’s quarterly earnings
announced by defendants ($0.34 per share following the restructuring charge) precisely matched

the eamnings estimate issued previously by Merrill Lynch. As reporied in the Wall Street Journal

Europe on May 20, 1998, the reported earnings for the Third Quartcr (before a charge for
restructuring and discontinued operations) was only one cent below the average analyst estimate
of earnings (of $0.35 per share)., Following the carnings announcement, Campbell’s common
stock price climbed from $53.0625 per share on May 19, 1998 to $55 per share on May 20, 1993.

65.  On or about June 7, 1998, defcndants filed Campbell’s quarterly report on Form
10-Q) with the SEC, which reiterated the resulls first set forth in the May 19, 1998 press releasc
with respecl 1o revenue, earnings, margins and U.S. product volume increases.

Misrepresentations About Results For Campbell’s
Fiscal Quarter And Year Ended August 2, 1998

66. In apress rclease on September 3, 1998, defendants announced that Campbell had
net sales for fiscal 1998 (ended August 2, 1998) of $6.696 billion and net earnings (before a
restructuring charge) of $882 million (or $1.90 per sharc) as compared to net sales of $6.614
billion and net carnings of $713 million (or $1.49 per share) for fiscal 1997. Net eamings for the
fourth fiscal quarter were $0.38 per share.

67. Inthe September 3, 1998 press release, defendants again touted Campbell’s sales

results, stating:
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“This was an exceptional year at Campbell. We continued to deliver
strong resulls while complcting the most far-reaching portfolio
reconfiguration in the history of Campbell Soup Company,” said Dale
Morrison, President and Chief Exccutive Officer. “Our
reconfiguration and accelerated productivity programs continued (o
expand gross margins, which were up 3.3 points to 51,7 percent in
fiscal 1998.” . . .. Morrison added, “We are a more focuscd company
and we are exciled about our growth plan for the new year. U.S. soup
is our highest priority. Across our businesses we have new products,
new advertising and new marketing initiatives to build on Campbell’s
strong equity with consumers and to drive volume growth. We rcmain
committed to delivering long term shareowner wealth through top quartile carnings
growth.”

68.  Inthe samc September 3, 1998 release, it was reported that soup and sauces sales
for the year increased 6 percent to $4.43 billion and operating eamings, excluding the
restructuring, increased 10 percent to $1.24 billion. The press releasc also reported that U.S. wet
soup sales increased 6 percent with volume up 1 percent over the prior year.

69.  As reported on the Dow Jones Onling News on September 3, 1998, the average

analysts’ eamings estimate for the fourth quarter of fiscal 1998 was $0.38 per share -- the exacl
amount reported by the Company for the quarier. Again, Campbell’s per share earnings for the
fourth fiscal quarter ($0.38) exactly matched the earnings estimaled by Merrill Lynch.
Campbell’s stock price closed al $49.93 per share on September 3, 1998 as compared with
$50.25 per share on the preceding day -- September 2, 1998,

70.  On or about Qctober 9, 1998, defendants filed Campbell’s annual report on Form
10-K with the SEC, which reiterated the results (irst set forth in the September 3, 1998 press

release with respect to revenuc, earnings, margins and U.S. product volume increases.
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71.  Campbell's Form 10-K (or fiscal year 1998 also included a specific representation
that shipment of Campbell's products was made “promptly” by Campbell following receipt and
acceptance of orders:

CUSTOMERS

In the United States, sales solicitation activities are conducted by the
company's own sales force and through broker and distributor
arrangements, The company’s products are generally resold to
conswmers in retail stores, restaurants and other food service
gstablishments. No malenial part of the business is dependent upon a

single customer. Shipments arc made promptly by the company after
reccipt and acceptance of orders. (emphasis added)

Misrepresentations About Results For Campbell’s Fiscal Quarter Ended November 1, 1998

72.  Inapress releasc on November 18, 1998, Campbell reported net sales of $1.804
billion and net earnings of $264 million (or $0.58 per share) for the quarter ended November 1,
1998 as compared with net sales of $1.813 billion and net earnings of $267 million (or $0.55 per
share) [or the same quartcr in the prior year.
73.  In the November 18, 1998 press release, defendants again touted Campbell’s sales
resulls, stating:
“With strong sales gains in our ongoing businesses, we are
cncouraged by first quarter results,” said Dale Morrison, President
and Chief Executive Officer. “We are especially pleased by

the growth in U.S. wel soup consumption. Thesc results reflect
our commiiment 1o accelerate investment in our powerful brands.”

* * ®

In the U.S., wet soup volume rose 4 percent. Sales growth was led by

a strong performance from ‘Chunky’ ready-to-serve soups. ‘Campbell’s’
Red & White brands, especially Tomato soup, showed significant salcs
growth driven by increased advertising and merchandising. . . .
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74, As reported on the Dow Jones Online News on November 18, 1998, Campbell’s
reported results again precisely maiched the mean estimate of analysts’ carnings for the first
quarter — $0.58 per sharc. Once again, Campbell’s reported earnings also matched the estimate
made by Merrill Lynch, which stated in a report issucd on November 19, 1998: “The key point is
that 1J,S. soup volume increased 4%, despite warm weather. . . . Most important, U.S. soup
volumes grew an impressive 4%.” Following the eammings announcement, the Company’s
common stock price increased to $56.4375 per share on November 18, 1998 as compared with
$55.50 per share on the preceding day November 17, 1998,

75.  On or about December 16, 1998, defendants filed Campbell’s quarterly report on
Form 10-Q with the SEC, which reiterated the results first set forth in the November 18, 1998
press release wilh respect to rcvenue, eamnings, margins and U.S. product volume incrcases.
Campbell’s Misrepresentations At The End Of The Class Period

76.  On January 11, 1999, belorc the opening of the market and the first trading day
after the end of the Class Period, Campbell stunned investors and analysis by announcing that
fiscal year eamings would fall below analysts’ eslimales because of weaknesses in its core
condensed soup business. Campbell announced that due lo “major cost saving initialives in
supply chain operations,” there would be “lower soup shipments in the second quarter ending
January 21, 1999 and for the fiscal year.” The Company further stated that:

The supply chain initiatives are expected to deliver annualized savings
of about $100 million. They focus on significantly improving supply
chain management and reducing the variability in trade spending, which

creates major inefficiencies throughout the supply chain, including
procurement, manufacturing, shipping and storage of products.
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77.  Campbell further quantified the impact on earnings to be “18 to 23 cents per share
helow published estimates with substantially all of the shortfall expected in (he sccond quarter.”

78.  In a conference call with securities analysts on January 11, 1999, Defendant
Morrison blamed unusually warm winter weather and “inefficiencies in the supply chain™ for
sales and earnings weaknesses.

79.  However, both purported explanations for the dramatic decline in sales and
earnings were blatanily [alse and misleading. The purported “inefficiencies in the supply chain”
was nothing more than a euphemism for the undisclosed pervasive loading, and improper
revenue recognition based upon the guaranteed return policy and sham shipments, and the costs
arising from those improper practices. Similarly, although the weather is often used as a
convenient source to explain disappointing sales, the weather in late 1998 was not dramatically
different than in 1997 and 1996, and other years had shown favorable sales comparisons despite
weather that was warmer. In fact, the true reason for the decline was the decision to stop the
massive “loading” and improper “shipping” practices because the sales force determined during
the second quarter of fiscal 1999 that as a result of the overwhelming amount of product which
had been “shipped” lo customers, warchouses, and “the yard,” there was no place to put any mors
product, and cven with continued massive amounts of “loading”™ and “shipping,” there was no
way that Campbel]l would make the projections of sales and earnings set by defendants and
accepted as true by analysts.

80. Following the January 11, 1999 announcement, the Company’s stock price
declined approximately 16% from a high of $53.9375 per share on January 8, 1999 to close at

$45.375 per share on January 11, 1999,
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- . .

THE FALSITY OF THE STATEMENTS

81. Defendants stalements beginning no later than September 8, 1997 and continuing
until the end of the Class Pcriod were false and misleading at the timc that they were made and
misled the investing public as to the truc amount of sales and earnings achicved in each quarter
during the Class Period and artificially inflated the price of the Campbell’s common stock.

82.  All of defendants’ representations as to the revenue and carnings of Campbell —in
press releases, Forms 10-Q and Forms 10-K — were materially misleading for failing to disclose
that such results had been reached only through the extraordinary “loading” duning the Class
Period and, beginning in the first quarter of fiscal 1998, the extraordinary “shipping” procedures
and did not reflect ordinary demand for Campbell’s products which could be sustained in the
future.

83. Defendants’ representations of the forccasts for sales of Campbell’s products and
expected growth, and the representations in press releases and SEC filings as to the positive
trends of sales of Campbell’s U.S. products, were materially false and misleading because
defendants knew that the “sales” had really been the result of extraordinary discounts and
“loading” during the Class Period and, beginning in the first quarter of fiscal 1998, the
cxtraordinary “shipping,” including the shipping to warchouses and to “the yard.”

84. Defendanis’ representations were materially misleading for failure to disclose the
known (rends and uncertainties concerning the discounts, “sales,” and “shipping” of Campbell’s
product, including the impact which those known trends would likely have upon the revenues
and earnings of Campbell in later fiscal period, including fiscal 1999. These trends were

required (o be slaled under Ttem 303 of Regulation S-K of the Securities and Exchange
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Commission, which requires issuers on annual and quarterly filings to “[d]escribe any known
trends or uncertainties (hat have had or that the registrant reasonably cxpects will have a material
favorable or unfavorable impact on nel sales or revenue or income from continuing operations.”™
17 C.F.R. § 229.303.

85. Defendants’ representations in the 1997 Form 10-K and the 1998 Form 10-K (and,
therefore, by implication in the Forms 10-Q throughout the Class Period, as thosc Forms 10-Q
are deemed io incorporate accounting and other policies specifically sct forth in the Forms 10-K)
that product was shipped immediately upon reccipt and acceptance of orders was materially
misleading, as there were material amounts of product which were placed in warehouscs and
material amounts of product that were placed upon other areas of Campbell’s property, and such
delivery of product to the warchouses and to other portions of Campbell’s lot may not reasonably
and appropriately be considered “shipment.”

86. Defendants’ representations of the revenue and earmings of Campbell throughout
the Class Period, and the representations in all of the Form 10-Ks and Form 10-Qs that
Campbell’s (inancial statements were in compliance with generally accepted accounting
principles (“GAAP"), were false and mislcading because such revenue and carnings included
“sales” which were nol properly recognizablc as revenue:

a. GAAP are those principles recognized by the accounting profession as the
conventions, rules, and proccdures necessary to define accepted accounting practice al a
particular time. As sct forth in Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") Statement of

Concepts ("Conecpts Statement™) No. 1, one of the fundamental objectives of financial reporting
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is that it provide accurate and reliable information concerning an entity's financial performance
during the period being presented. Concepts Statement No. 1, at 42, states:
Financial reporting should provide information about an enterprisc's
financial performance during a period. Investors and creditors often
use information about the past to help in assessing the prospects of
an enterprise. Thus, although investment and credit decisions reflect
investors' and ereditors’ cxpectations about future enterprise
performance, those expectations are commonly bascd at least partly
on evaluations of past enterprise performance.
Regulation 8-X [17 C.F.R. § 210.4-01(a)(1)] states thal financial statcments filed with the SEC
that are not prepared in conformity with GAAP are presumed to be misleading and inaccurate.
b. The conceptual basis for revenuc recognition is contained in Financial
Accounling Standards Board Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts No. 5, Recognition
and Mcasurement in Financial Statements of Business Enterprises ("SFAC No. 5").
Paragraph 83(b) of SFAC No. 5 states that: "Revenues are nol recognized until earned. An
cntity's revenue-earning activities involve delivering or producing goods, rendering scrvices, or
other activities that constitute its ongoing major or central operations, and revenues are
considered to have been earned when the entity has substantially accomplished what it must do to
be entitled (o the bencefits represented by the revenues." Paragraph 84(a) of SFAC No. 5 states
that revenues from manufacturing and selling activities are commonly recognized at time of salc,
usually meaning delivery. The SEC has reaffirmed this basic concept on numcerous occasions.
For example, it was rcaffirmed by the SEC n:
() Accounting And Auditing Enforcement Release No. 817
(September 19, 1996) which states: "Under APB Statement
No. 4, which was rescinded in March 1993, revenue was

generally recogmzed when (1) the earnings process was
complete or virtually complete, and (2) an exchange had
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taken place. This revenue recognition concept has been
carried forward in FASB Statement of Financial
Accounting Concepts No. 5, para. 83-84, and in other
authoritative litcrature and continues to provide the

“ foundation for revenue recogmtion in accordance with
GAAP."

(i1) Accounting And Auditing Enforcement Release No. 812
(September 5, 1996) which states: "Generally Accepted
Accounting Principles ("GAAP") provide that revenue
should not be recognized until an exchange has occurred,
the earnings process 1s complete, and the collection of the
sales price 15 reasonably assured. These conditions
ordinarily are met when products are exchanged for cash or
claitns to cash, and when the entity has substantally
performed the obligations which entitle it to the
benefits represented by the revenuc.”

c. "A bill and hold transaction is generally a practice whereby a customer
agrces to purchase the goods but the scller retains physical possession until the customer requcsts
shipment to designated locations" (SEC Exchange Act Release No. 23,507). Accordingly,
revenue recognition on a "bill and hold" transaction is an cxccption to the GAAP (Accounting
Principles Board Opinion No. 10, paragraph 12) which provides that "revenucs should ordinarily
be accounted for at the time a transaction is completed” and GAAP (Chapier 1A of Accounting
Research Bulletin No. 43, paragraph 1) which provides that "profit is deemed to be realized when
a salc in the ordinary course of business is effected." GAAP which governs the recognition of
revenues associated with "bill and hold" {ransactions were promulgated by the SEC in its
Exchange Act Release No. 23,507. This Release (the continuing authority of which has been
realfirmed by the S8EC through its issuance of Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 101, Revenue
Recognition In Financial Statcments, on December 3, 1999) states that in order to be permitied to

recognize revenue, a "bill and hold" transaction should meet the following conditions:
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(i)
(1)

(iif)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vi1)

The risks of ownership must have passed to the buyer,

The customer must have made a fixed commitment to
purchase the goods, preferably reflected in wniten
documeniation.

The buyer, not the seller, must requesi that the transaction
be on a bill and hold basis and the buyer must have a
substantial business purposc for ordering the goods on a bill
and hold basis.

There must be a fixed schedule for delivery of the goods
and the date for delivery must be reasonable and must be
consistent with the buyer's business purpose (e.g. storage
periods are customary in the industry).

The scller must not have retained any specific performance
obligations such thai the earning process is not complete.

The ordered goods must have becn scgregated from the
seller's inventory and not be subject to being used 1o fill
other orders.

The ordercd goods must be complete and ready
for shipment.

Campbell financial statements were not in compliance with GAAP because a material amount of

revenue and carnines (inclhuding enough eamings to meet analyst’s expectations for revenue and
g

earnings) was generated by “sales” for which no “delivery” to the customer was madc, but

instead the product remained under Canipbell control and risk of loss. Specifically, not only did

Campbell retain the risk ol loss on all product until actually delivered to the customer (rather

than to a warehouse or lot conirolled by Campbell), but Campbell paid for the additional

shipping, storage, and handling in connection with the product which was not dehvered to

customers soon afler sale. In addition, as set forth above, the transactions in which Camphell

“held” the product in warehouses or in “ihe yard” were transactions initiated by Campbell, for
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which the customers had no legitimate business rcason for purchasing the product under thosc
conditions. Also, there was not a fixed or reasonable schedule for delivery of the goods held by
Campbell.

d. GAAP (FASB Statement No. 48, Revenue Recognition When Right of
Return Exists; "FASB Statement No. 48") defines "guaranteed sales” as "arrangements in which
customers buy products for resale with the right to return products.” FASB Statement No. 48
provides that:

If an cnterprise sells its product but gives the buyer the right to retum

the product, revenue from the sales transaction shall be recognized at

time of sale only if all of the following conditions are met:

(1} The seller's price 1o the buycr is substantially fixed or
determinable at the date of sale.

(ii) The buyer has paid the seller, or the buyer is obligated
to pay the seller and the obligation is not contingent on
resale of the produet

(iii) The buyer's obligation to the seller would not be changed
in the event of thefl or physical destruction or damage
of the product.

(iv) The buyer acquiring the product for resale has economic
substance apart from that provided by the seller,

(v) The seller does not have significant obligations for future
performance to directly bring about resale of the
product by the buyer.

(v1) The amount of fulure returns can be reasonably estimated.

In contravention of GAAP, Campbell sold material quantities of merchandise on a guaranteed
sales basis, and improperly recognized these amounts as revenue because (i) in all instances the

amount of future relurns could not be reasonably estimated by Campbell and, (i1} in connection
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with the “sham” shipments, the buyer had no obligation to Campbell in the event of thelt or
physical destruction or damage of the product. Alternatively, cven if sales revenue is recogmzed
on a gnaranteed sale because all of the foregoing conditions are met, FASB Statement No. 48
requires that any costs or losses that may be expected in connection with any returns “shall be

accrued in accordance with FASB Statement No. 5, Accounting for Contingencies. Sales

revenue and cost of sales reported in the income statement shall be reduced to reflect estimated
returns.” In contravention of this GAAP, Campbell failed to provide for returns, (as cvidenced
by the financial statements of Campbell, which provide a reserve against accounts receivablc for
"allowances for cash discounts and bad debts" but do not reflect a "reserve for returns") or
otherwise evidence compliance with FASB Statements No. 5 and 48,

e. Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 22, Disclosure Of Accounting

Policics ("APB Opinion No. 22"} providcs authoritative mandates with respect to financial
slatement disclosures. This literature states:

Disclosure of accounting policies should identify and descnibe the
accounting principles followed by the reporting entity and the methods
of applying those principles that matcrially affect the determination of
financial position, changes in financial position, or results of operations.
In general, the disclosure should encompass important judgments as to
appropriateness of principles relating to recognition of revenue and
allocation of asset costs to current and future periods; in particular, it
should cncompass those accounting principles and methods that involve

any of the following:
a. A selection from existing acceptable alternatives;
b. Principles and methods peculiar to the industry in

which the reporting cntity operates, even if such principles
and methods arc predominantly followed in that industry;
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C. Unusual or innovalive applications of generally accepted
accounting principles (and, as applicable, of principles and
mecthods peculiar to the industry in which the reporting
entity operates).

In contravention of APB Opinion No. 22, Campbell failed to disclosc the fact that it recognized
material amounts of revenue on bill and hold transactions and guaranieed sales transactions.

f, Aecounting Principles Board Opinion No. 28, Interim Financial Reporiing,
("APB Opinion No. 28"} states that:

The Board belicves there is a presumption that users of summarized

interim financial data will have read the latest published annual

report, including the financial disclosures required by generally

accepted accounting principles and management's commentary

concerning the annual financial results, and that the summarized interim

data will be viewed in that context. In this connection, the Board

encourages management to provide commentary relating to the effects

of signilicant cvents upon the interim financial results.

g, Tn addition, each of Campbell's interim filings on Form 10-Q during the
(lass Period referred the reader to the most recently filed Form 10-K (by stating that: "These
statements are qualified by reference to the section "Cautionary Statement on Forward-Looking
Staternents’ in Ttem 1 of the registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K...") and to the "summary ol
significant accounting policies” which were contained within these Forms 10-K by stating:
"Accounting policies for measuring segment assets and carnings before interest and laxes arc
substantially consistent with those described in the summary of significant accounting policies
included in the fiscal 1997 [1998] Armual Report." Because there is a presumption that users of
summarized interim financial data will have tead the financial disclosurcs required by generally

accepted accounting principlcs contained in the latest published annual report, and because

interim filings with the SEC on Form 10-Q ordinarily refer to statements in the latest published
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annual report (as do those of Campbell), GAAP (APB Opinion No. 20, in paragraphs 23 and 24)
mandates that:
Bach report of interim financial information should indicate any change in
accounting principles or practices from those applied in (a) the comparable

interim period of the prior annual period, (b) the preceding interim
periods in the current annual period and (c) the prior annual report.

s e deke

Changes in an intcrim or annual accounting practice or policy made in an
interim period should be reported in the period in which the change is made,
in accordance with the provisions of APB Opinion No. 20, Accounting

Changes.

By changing its policies and principles with respect to “shipment™ of product and recognition of
revenue from those articulated in its Form 10-K without informing investors in its SEC filings,
Camphcll not only materially misrepresented its financial statements and opcrations, but
Campbell also failed to comply with GAAP (APB Opinion No. 20).

h. GAAP was also violaled becausc Campbell’s financial statements
included the huge discounts {o customers as part of “sales, general, and administrative expensc”
(SG&A) instead of deducting these costs from gross revenue, thereby maleriaily overstating
gross revenue and gross margin. Although the discounts were made in the form of cheeks to the
customers rather than discounts off the invoice relating to the product, the discounts were
reductions in the selling price in substance, and Campbell in violation of GAAP (Statement of
Financial Accounting Concepts No. 2 which states, in paragraph 160 that “the principle that the
quality of reliability and, in particular, of representational faithfulness leaves no room for
accounting represcntations that subordinate substance to form™) shifted this amount to SG&A in

order to maintain the appearances of higher sales and margins, which had long been the focus of
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Camphbcll’s claims in its SEC filings, press releases, and comments to analysts, and which was
algo the focus of positive commentary about Campbell by analysts.

(i) Campbell had iraditionally provided discounts to customers (often m
the (orm of cheeks) in return for performing legitimate “advertising” functions, such as including
Campbell products in “in-slore” displays or advertising fliers, or providing direct reductions in
price to help cneourage the purchase by consumers.

(ii) Howevcr, the huge discounts provided to customers in connection
with the “loading” and “shipping” at the end of cach quarter during (he Class Pcriod were not
accompanied by any “quid pro quo” by the customer in the form of advertising or otherwise.
Nonctheless, Campbell paid the amount of the discount by check. Campbell treated the
paymenis 1o customers in conncction with the end of quarter huge discounts as advertising, in the
same manner as it had treated the traditional discounts n return for advertising space and
displays.

(i) The result of Campbell’s practice was that despite the tremendous
decrease in true salcs price as a result of the steep discounts provided to “load” the product at the
end of each quarter, which accounted for 10-20% or more of Campbell’s sales for the entirc
quarter, Campbell was still able to report level or increasing gross margins,

THE AFTERMATH OF DEFENDANTS’ WRONGFUIL COURSE OF CONDUCT

§7.  Asreported in an article in The Wall Street Journal dated January 12, 1999,

defendant Morrison, in a conference call with sccurities analysts on that same day conceded that
Camphbcll planned to end its loading practices by stating: “Campbell planned to end its long-time

practice of offering retailers rebatcs and steep discounts al quarters end as a way to entice the
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stores to stock up on soup so Campbell can mect its sales target.” However, defendant Morrison
failed to disclose the extent of the loading and the effcct this would have on future quarters.
Defendant Morrison also failed to disclose the improper revenuc recognition practices and sham
shipments.

88.  As admitted by defendants, the termination of the loading practices affected
earmings throughout 1999, as detailed herein:

a. On or about February 16, 1999, Campbell amounced its financial resulls
for its second quarter ended January 31, 1999, with sales and earnings down as compared with
(he prior vear. Net sales and earnings declined to $1.83 billion and $219 million respectively as
compared with $2.01 billion and $300 million in revenue and carnings in the second quartcr of
the prior year. The major source of the salcs decline was the drop in U.S. soup sales and
operaling earnings which declined 8% to $1.28 billion and 26% to $291 million, respcetively, for
the period. As reported in The Wall Street Journal dated February 17, 1999, Company officials
stated the lower earnings were the result of “changes (o its supply chain that resulted in fewcr
shipments.” Campbell’s common stock price closed at $40.68 per sharc on February 16, 1999.

b. On or about May 18, 1999, the Company reported 1ls financial results for
the quarter ended May 2, 1999. The Company stated soup sales were flat at $1.01 billion as
compared with the same quarter in the prior ycar. The Company stated U.S. soup sales were
“impacted by the January [1999] decision (o eliminate quarter-end promotions for retail
customers.” The Company’s common stock price closed at $41.68 per share on May 18, 1999.

c. On September 2, 1999, Campbell announced earnings for the fourth

quarter ended August 1, 1999, Again the results were disappointing. Eamings for the [ourth
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quarter before non-recurring charges were $121 million compared to $173 million in the
comparable quarter a year ago. Morrison again admitted thal terminating the loading practices
had causcd the poor results: “These results are disappointing, but the supply chain decisions we
made this year will pay dividends in fiscal 2000 and beyond.” Campbell’s stock closed at
$43.8125 on Seplember 2, 1999,

d. On November 16, 1999 Campbell announced earmings for the first quarter
of fiscal year 2000. Net eammings were only $235 million compared to $264 million in the
comparable quarter a year ago, reflecling thc Company’s decision last January to eliminate
quarier-end promotions for U.8. retail customers. As a result, Campell’s stock dropped until it
rcached a 1999 low of $37.44 on December 21, 1999,

89. Indeed, the truth was never disclosed until this liligation was initiated m January
2000. As set forth above, (he price of Campbell stock dropped continuously during 1999 (to
below $40 per sharc by the end of 1999) as Campbell rcleased these further disappointing
earnings admittedly caused by the loading practices and other undisclosed wrongful conduct,
which defendants continucd to conceal even afier the Class Period. As a result, the loss that class
members incurred in (he price of Campbell stock throughout 1999 also resulted from the fraud
detailed in this Complaint, and such losses may be rccovered by class members.

STATUTORY SAFE HARBOR

63,  The statutory safe harbor provided for “forward-looking statcments” under certain
circumstances does not apply (o any allegedly falsc statements pleaded in this Complaint because
1no such stalemenis were “forward-looking statements” and to the cxtent that any stalement was a

“forward-looking stalements,” it was not identified as a “forward-looking statement™ when made
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and defendanis did not accompany any such “forward-looking statement” with meaningful
cautionary statements identifying important factors that could cause actual results to differ
matcrially from those in the forward-looking statcment. Alternatively, the statutory safe harbor
does not apply to any “forward-looking statements” because at the time each ol those ““forward-
looking statements” was made, the speaker knew the “forward-looking statement” was falsc and
the “forward-looking statcment™ was authorized and/or approved by an executive officer of
Campbell who knew that the slatement was false when made.

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF

{Against All Defendants For Violation Of Section 10(b}

Of _The Exchange Act And Rule 10b-5 Promulgated Thereunder)

64.  Plaintiffs repeat and reallege the allegations set forth above as though fully sct
forth herein.

65. Each of the defendants kncw or had access to the matcrial, adverse non-public
information about the Company’s products, loading practices, sham shipments, guaranteed return
policy, financial results and then cxisting business conditions which was not disclosed and
parlicipated in drafting, reviewing and/or approving the false and misleading statements, releases,
reports and other public representations of and about the Company.

66.  During the Class Period, defendants, with knowledge of or reckless disregard for
the truth, disseminated or caused, allowed and permitted to be disseminated the false and
misleading stalements specificd above, which were false and misleading in that they contained
misrepresentations and failed to disclose matcrial facts necessary in order to make the statements

madec, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, nol misleading.
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67. As arcsult, defendants violated Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5
promulgated thereunder in thai they:

a. Employed devices, schemes and artifices to defraud;

b. Made untrue statements of material facts or omitted to state material facts
necessary in order to make the statcments made, in light of the circumstances under which they
were made, not mislcading; or

C. Bngagcd in acts, practices and a course of business that opcrated as a fraud
or deceit upon plaintiffs and others similarly situated in connection with their purchases of the
Company’s common stock during the Class Period.

68.  Plaintiffs and the Class have suffered damages in that, in reliance on (he intcgrity
of the market, they paid artificially inflated prices for Campbell stock. Plamntiffs and the Class
would not have purchased the Company’s common stock at the prices they paid, or at all, if they
had been aware that the market prices had been artificially and falscly inflated by defendants’
misleading statements.

SECOND CLATM FOR RELIEF

(Against the Individual Defendants for
Violation of Section 20(a) Of The Exchange Act)

69.  Plaintiffs repeat and rcallege the allegations set forth above as though fully set
forth herein,
70.  The Individual Dcfendants acted as controlling persons of the Company within the

nicaning of Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act. By reason of (heir exceutive positions, they had
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the power and authority to cause and did in fact cause the Company to engage in the wrongful
conduct complained of herein.

74, By reason of such wronglul conduct, the Individual Defendants are liable to the
Class pursuant to Scction 20(a) of the Exchange Act. As a direct and proximate result of their
wrongful conduct, plaintiffs and the other members of the Class suffered damages in connection
with their purchases of the Company’s secunities dunng the Class Period.

WHEREFORE, plaintiffs, on their own behalf and on behalf of the other members of the
Class, demand judgment against the defendants as follows:

A Dectermining that this action is properly maintainable as a class aclion pursuant to
Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure;

B. Declaring and determining that defendants violated the federal securitics laws by
reason of their conduct as alleged hercin,

C. Awarding monetlary damages against all defendants, joinily and scverally, in favor
of plaintiffs and the othcr members of the Class for all losses and damages suffered as a result of
the acts and transactions complained of herein, together with prejudgment interest from the date
of the wrongs to the date of the judgment herein,

D. Awarding plaintiffs the costs, expenses, and disburscments incurred in this action,
including reasonable altomeys' and experts’ fces; and

E. Awarding plaintiffs and the other members of the Class such other and further

relief as the Court may deem just and proper in light of all the circumstlances of this casc.
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JURY DEMAND

Plainiiffs demand a trial by jury in this case.

e EL
By: o/ f-> : ﬂf‘_‘}{éﬁéﬁv»—‘-
isa J. Rodniquig, Esquire (#LR6767)
RODRIGUEZ & RICHARDS, L1.C
3 Kings Highway E.
I{addenfield, NJ 08033
(856) 795-9002

Dated: July 27, 2000

Plaintiffs' Local Counsel

Sherme R. Savett, Esquirc

Stuart J. Guber, Esquire

Darin Morgan, Esquite

BERGER & MONTAGUE, P.C.
1622 Locust Street

Philadelphia, PA, 19103

(215) 875-3000

Andrew M. Schatz, Esquire
Jeffiey S. Nobel, Esquire
Patrick A. Klingman, Esquire
SCHATZ & NOBEL, P.C,
330 Main Street

Hartford, CT 06106

(860) 493-6292

Plaintiffs' Co-Lead Counsel

313485
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CERTIFICATE QF SERVICE

I, Donna Siegel-Moffa, hereby certify that on this 27" day of July, 2000, T caused
a true and correct copy of the Consolidated Amended Class Action Complaint to be served via
overnight mail, postage pre-paid, on the following parties:

Paul C. Saunders, Esq.
Max R. Shulman, Esq.
Cravath, Swaine & Moorc
Worldwide Plava

825 Eighih Avenuc

New York, NY 10019-7475

Alan Kraus, Esq.

Keena M. Mackay, Esq.

Riker, Danzig, Scherer, Hyland
& Perrett, LLP

Headquarters Plaza

One Speedwell Avenue

P.0O. Box 1981

Morristown, NJ 07962-1981
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